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          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Welcome to today's

          3  hearing of the City Council's Committee on

          4  Transportation. My name is John Liu, I have the

          5  privilege of chairing this Committee.

          6                 Today's agenda is full. It's

          7  comprised of seven pieces of legislation, all

          8  designed to address issues relating to keeping New

          9  York City sidewalks in good condition.

         10                 I'll briefly summarize each bill and

         11  we'll then turn to an overview of why these pieces

         12  of legislation are before this Committee today.

         13                 Intro. No. 39 would provide recourse

         14  for a property owner who's sidewalk is damaged by a

         15  tree that is under the exclusive care of the City of

         16  New York.

         17                 Intro. No. 41, a more expansive bill

         18  than Intro. 39, would obligate the City to perform

         19  repairs upon the sidewalks damaged by City-owned

         20  trees, fire hydrants, parking meters, emergency call

         21  boxes or other such public amenities under the

         22  control of the City.

         23                 Intro. No. 141 would require the City

         24  to obtain the consent of a property owner prior to

         25  planting a tree adjacent to their property.
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          2                 If the City fails to obtain such

          3  consent, the property owner would be relieved of the

          4  legal obligation to repair sidewalk damage caused by

          5  that tree that was planted by the City.

          6                 Intro. No. 242 would relieve one-,

          7  two- and three-family owner/occupied property owners

          8  of any obligation to maintain, repair or construct

          9  sidewalks when the sidewalks were damaged as a

         10  result of government capital reconstruction

         11  projects.

         12                 Intros. No. 39, 41, 141, and 242, all

         13  have the same goal at their cores. They seek to

         14  shift the legal responsibility for effecting repairs

         15  in certain specified circumstances to the

         16  appropriate party, that being the City of New York.

         17                 There is no reason why such property

         18  owners should remain legally responsible for making

         19  repairs to sidewalks that abut their property, as

         20  the law currently requires, when the damage was

         21  caused by some action or inaction of the City.

         22                 In such circumstances where the

         23  damage to the sidewalk was caused through no fault

         24  of that property or that home-owner, but because of

         25  a City-owned amenity or through a government capital
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          2  reconstruction project, the City, and not the

          3  property or the home-owner, should bear the physical

          4  and financial burden of repairing such sidewalks.

          5                 The final three bills on today's

          6  agenda, Intros. No. 192, 193, and No. 295, are also

          7  joined by a common theme, which is the liability for

          8  damage and injuries proximately caused by a

          9  defective or unsafe sidewalk condition.

         10                 Intro. No. 192 relates to the notice

         11  of defective, unsafe, dangerous or obstructed

         12  conditions required as a prerequisite to the

         13  maintenance of certain civil actions against the

         14  City of New York.

         15                 Current law requires that in order to

         16  maintain a civil action against the City, the City

         17  must have been given written notice of a defective

         18  or unsafe sidewalk condition, and the City must have

         19  been negligent in repairing such condition after a

         20  reasonable amount of time has passed.

         21                 Intro. No. 192 would mandate greater

         22  specificity and detail in such notices given to the

         23  City and would lengthen the amount of time before

         24  the City may be considered negligent in repairing a

         25  condition it had notice of from 15 to 60 days. It

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            8

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  would lengthen the period from 15 to 60 days.

          3                 Intro. No. 193 and Intro. No. 295,

          4  both relate directly to who bears the liability for

          5  damage and injuries caused by defective or unsafe

          6  sidewalk conditions.

          7                 Intro. No. 193 would make the

          8  property owner abutting a sidewalk liable for such

          9  damage or injury. The City of New York would be

         10  specifically excused from any liability in such an

         11  event, unless the property is a one-, two-, or

         12  three-family owner-occupied property, which is used

         13  exclusively for residential purposes, or if the City

         14  itself is the owner of the property.

         15                 Intro. No. 295 would make the

         16  property owner abutting a sidewalk primarily

         17  responsible for any damage or injury caused by a

         18  defective or unsafe sidewalk condition.

         19                 The City would be secondarily liable.

         20                 Both Intro. 193 and Intro. 295 seek

         21  to amend the law in a manner that more equitably

         22  apportions liability between the property owner and

         23  the City.

         24                 The theory behind both bills is that

         25  the property owner who already legally bears the
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          2  responsibility for maintaining and repairing the

          3  sidewalk abutting the property has negligently

          4  failed to correct a defective or unsafe condition

          5  which has led to damage or injury.

          6                 Therefore, the property owner should

          7  be the first and perhaps only source of liability

          8  for claimants.

          9                 These bills attempt to address and

         10  correct the phenomenon of the City paying out

         11  millions of dollars per year on sidewalk claims,

         12  while property owners often escape any liability at

         13  all, despite the fact that they are the initial

         14  law-doer.

         15                 At this time, I would like to welcome

         16  representatives of the Administration who will

         17  present testimony on the items before this Committee

         18  today, and I believe we will hear testimony from our

         19  Corporation Counsel, Michael Cardozo.

         20                 Good morning, Mr. Cardozo.

         21                 MR. CARDOZO: Good morning. It's a

         22  pleasure to be here.

         23                 May I proceed?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Yes.

         25                 MR. CARDOZO: My prepared remarks have
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          2  already been distributed to the Committee. I'm here

          3  on behalf of the Administration to testify in

          4  support of Intros. 192 and 193, and to suggest that

          5  the legislation, the other items of legislation that

          6  are before the Committee should not be enacted.

          7                 Transportation Commissioner Weinshall

          8  and Parks Commissioner Benepe are here, or

          9  Commissioner Benepe will be here in a moment, and

         10  they also would be available if there are any

         11  further questions.

         12                 I'd like to first address my remarks

         13  to Intro. 193, which we call the "adjacent land

         14  owners bill." At a time that everyone in the City is

         15  focused on how we close the City's budget gap,

         16  without adversely affecting the quality of life, the

         17  Council has before it Intro. 193 that will save the

         18  City money and improve the quality of life.

         19                 Let me explain very briefly what the

         20  law is today and how the proposed law would change

         21  this.

         22                 Today, if someone falls on a sidewalk

         23  as a result of a crack, and the City has at least

         24  theoretical notice of that crack, the City is

         25  liable. You trip, you fall, you sue, you win. And
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          2  that is true even though the present administrative

          3  code provides that it is the obligation of the

          4  landlord to keep the sidewalk in good repair.

          5                 And what we're suggesting in our

          6  bill, which is modeled after an approach adopted by

          7  the City of Long Beach, and upheld by the highest

          8  court of the state, is that commercial property

          9  owners and multiple dwelling property owners, not

         10  the City, would be liable to citizens who are hurt

         11  because of cracks on the sidewalk.

         12                 People who are hurt would still be

         13  able to sue, but they will sue the building owner,

         14  not the City. And remember, this comes from the fact

         15  already that the landlord is responsible for keeping

         16  the sidewalks in good repair.

         17                 Now, our proposed bill does not apply

         18  and would not impose liability on the owners of one,

         19  two, and three-family residential homes that are

         20  owner-occupied.

         21                 Let's first look at the facts and

         22  I'll ask my colleague to put up three boards that

         23  will hopefully highlight this.

         24                 What are we talking about in terms of

         25  dollars? New York pays out $60 million a year, and
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          2  by the way, this is attached to my testimony in the

          3  book for those of you who want to look at it.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Could we turn

          5  those around so we can see them?

          6                 MR. CARDOZO: Sure.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Okay, thank

          8  you.

          9                 MR. CARDOZO: So, New York City on

         10  average pays out $60 million a year in sidewalks,

         11  and that doesn't even capture the whole cost,

         12  because that doesn't include the 44 lawyers in my

         13  office who work on sidewalk cases, the support staff

         14  in my office, and the Comptroller's people who

         15  obviously have to deal with this, and we estimate

         16  that at another $10 million in costs.

         17                 Now, what's been happening to these

         18  costs? Let's look at historical approach. Can you

         19  put up the board that would reflect the historical

         20  approach? And it's important I think because there's

         21  been some misconceptions with respect to the facts.

         22  If you look at the historical approach is what's

         23  happened since the 1970s, tort judgments on sidewalk

         24  cases have gone through the roof. They have

         25  increased over 1,000 percent in about 25 years. That
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          2  compares to the cost of living increase in New York

          3  City of about 181 percent.

          4                 Now, there's been some suggestion

          5  that these are funny numbers, that it's all a result

          6  of the fact that the City has a backlog of cases.

          7  Well, we did have a backlog and we still have a

          8  backlog of cases, and if we didn't have that

          9  backlog, then maybe there wouldn't have been such a

         10  spike but the numbers would obviously be very, very

         11  high.

         12                 The indisputable fact, we get 2,600

         13  sidewalk cases a year, they are settled or tried and

         14  disposed of on an average of about $20,000 a year,

         15  and the total that costs the City is $60 million a

         16  year.

         17                 Twenty-six percent of our pending

         18  cases, 26 percent of our 47,000 cases, are sidewalk

         19  cases. Twelve-thousand cases. Now, some people say,

         20  look, New York City just fix the sidewalks, that

         21  would solve all the problems. Look at the second

         22  board.

         23                 There are 673 million square feet,

         24  and I think I might win a trivia contest if I told

         25  the Committee that that totals half of the
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          2  circumference of the world. If you took all the

          3  sidewalks in New York City and you laid them

          4  end-to-end, that would total 12,750 miles, which is

          5  half-way around the globe. Now, what does DOT do to

          6  fix these sidewalks? It's been spending on the

          7  average of a little under 12 and a half million

          8  dollars a year to fix 1.5 million square feet.

          9  That's less than one percent of the sidewalks in New

         10  York it spends to fix every year.

         11                 At that rate it would take us 224

         12  years to fix half the sidewalks, and to the

         13  contention of my friends, the trial lawyers, just

         14  fix the sidewalks, it would cost us over two and a

         15  half, almost 3 billion, 3 billion dollars to fix all

         16  the sidewalks, and I don't think anyone could

         17  seriously suggest that the City has that kind of

         18  money.

         19                 It's simply not practical to say that

         20  we'll avoid the $60 million in judgments, if we

         21  spend almost $3 billion to fix the sidewalks.

         22                 So, what's the results? The result

         23  today is that people trip on sidewalks. And the

         24  landlord who is responsible under the administrative

         25  code for fixing the sidewalk, there is no
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          2  consequence to him if he does not. He waits.

          3                 If the City can get around to serving

          4  him with a violation, he can ignore it. He can wait

          5  til the City repairs it, and then the City can send

          6  him a bill for the repair, and if the bill is not

          7  paid, it becomes a lien. And some day when that

          8  property owner goes to sell his property or

          9  whatever, the lien would have to be discharged.

         10                 It's simply not, with half the

         11  circumference of the world involved, it is not a

         12  practical way to expect that our sidewalks can be

         13  repaired.

         14                 So, what's our solution? There are

         15  roughly a million properties in New York City, about

         16  700,000 of them are one-, two-, and three-family

         17  homes. They're not affected, nothing will change.

         18  But about a third of them, 300,000, are commercial

         19  and multiple dwelling properties. Everyone is

         20  supposed to keep the property in repair.

         21                 And let me digress here for just one

         22  minute. One of the things that bothers us a great

         23  deal is today if you don't fix the sidewalk, even

         24  though you're supposed to, nothing happens. But if

         25  you are dumb enough to try to fix the sidewalk and
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          2  you don't fix the sidewalk properly, then you're

          3  liable.

          4                 You're supposed to shovel the snow.

          5  If you don't shovel the snow, nothing happens to

          6  you. If you do shovel the snow, and you don't do it

          7  right, you're liable. That doesn't make any sense at

          8  all.

          9                 So, what is it that we're suggesting?

         10  Let's take just the 300,000 commercial and multiple

         11  dwelling properties, and let's say those people,

         12  those owners, will have to bear the liability if

         13  someone falls; now, that is 1,700, roughly 1,700 of

         14  our 2,600 cases, because those commercial and

         15  multiple residence properties, that's where the

         16  people traffic is, that's where the accidents

         17  happen.

         18                 Roughly two-thirds of the accidents

         19  in New York that result in these lawsuits occur on

         20  this one-third property. Now, what will happen if we

         21  do that? Well, most of these owners, I submit to

         22  you, are already insured against this. The bank

         23  holding the mortgage is going to insist on

         24  insurance, and they have insurance. And if they

         25  don't have insurance, obviously they can get
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          2  insurance. And I don't say this lightly, I know

          3  there is a cost involved.

          4                 If you take the $40 million that we

          5  think this bill would save, and divide it by the

          6  300,000 properties, you're talking about $150 a

          7  property. And, so, what we're suggesting to the

          8  Committee, that enactment of this legislation would

          9  save the City about $40 million a year in hard

         10  costs, plus the back office costs, and the landlord,

         11  faced with the possibility that if his sidewalk is

         12  not in good repair, will fix the sidewalk, will

         13  incentivize that landlord to fix it, which he does

         14  not do today, and the result will be safer City

         15  sidewalks, we'll save the City money and we'll

         16  improve the quality of life of the City today.

         17                 And now there's another positive

         18  aspect of this legislation. Today the $12.4 million

         19  that I was talking about that the City spends on

         20  sidewalk repairs is obviously primarily allocated to

         21  these commercial properties. So, 70 percent of the

         22  Department of Transportation money spent on sidewalk

         23  repairs is going to the large properties. Some of it

         24  is on City-owned properties, and about 25 percent on

         25  the one, two and three properties.
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          2                 Now, if the City does not have to

          3  repair these sidewalks because the landlord will

          4  have a liability if he doesn't fix the sidewalk,

          5  what's the result going to be?

          6                 We can take that $12.4 million in our

          7  budget and reallocate it, and most of it can go to

          8  repairing sidewalks in front of the one-, two-, and

          9  three-family homes. Some of it will obviously be

         10  spent in front of City-owned property, like schools

         11  and parks, and the rest, if there's a big, big hole

         12  in the ground that has to be fixed right away, the

         13  City will fix it.

         14                 Now, there are some, including my

         15  friend Councilman Koppell, who have suggested the

         16  way to deal with this problem, as proposed Intro.

         17  295 suggests, is to make the City only secondarily

         18  liable.

         19                 Now, I'm not sure what that means,

         20  but I think what it means is both parties will be

         21  sued, but the City will only have to pay if the

         22  landlord doesn't pay.

         23                 It's not practical. The 2,600 cases

         24  that we have to defend, the 12,000 pending cases,

         25  the 2,600 cases we disposed of, we still have to
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          2  spend the time of our lawyers. We'd be involved in

          3  settlement conferences, and the judge would say, and

          4  the other defendant would say, throw some money in,

          5  City, and then we pay, and then we're supposed to

          6  cross claim against the landlord, the litigation

          7  game would go on and on.

          8                 So, to conclude on 193, you'd say $40

          9  million, you'd make the City's sidewalk safer

         10  because the landlord would have an incentive to fix

         11  the property and people who are injured as a result

         12  of the sidewalk fall would still be able to sue.

         13                 Let me now move to Intro. 192, the

         14  so-called Big Apple bill, the notice bill. And

         15  that's still very relevant, because as I said,

         16  two-thirds of the City property, there would still

         17  be City liability if someone falls.

         18                 Now, in 1979, the City Council passed

         19  legislation that said, you've got to give the City

         20  notice, so the City knows what to do to go out and

         21  fix the cracks. If there's no notice, there's no

         22  liability. But the imaginativeness of our friends,

         23  the trial lawyers, was not foreseen, unfortunately,

         24  and the Big Apple Sidewalk and Protection

         25  Corporation was formed.
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          2                 That is a corporation whose officers,

          3  website and telephone number are all the same as the

          4  trial lawyers.

          5                 And what they did is they created a

          6  map. They give the City about 5,000 maps a year, and

          7  what they do is they contract with a map company,

          8  which in turn hires some high school kids, and those

          9  kids go out and they make nothing of what we call

         10  "squiggles." So, to take an example, here's a block

         11  in the Bronx. The City gets 5,000 of these maps a

         12  year, and the courts have said if anyone falls in

         13  any area where there's a squiggle, the City is on

         14  notice. So, here's a concrete example: All that

         15  yellow on this one block in the Bronx have

         16  squiggles. And if you look carefully that one

         17  squiggle means a crack, one squiggle means elevated

         18  pavement, one squiggle means something else, there's

         19  14 categories.

         20                 And, so, in this particular case the

         21  plaintiff fell on a crack, and she said I fell on

         22  the crack that's circled in red.

         23                 The court found, well, the City had

         24  the map, had the squiggle, didn't fix it, $500,000.

         25  All because of these maps. And I'm not making this

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            21

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  up. There are the maps, 14 cartons worth of maps.

          3  They're dumped, and I mean that literally, on the

          4  Department of Transportation, and under the law the

          5  City has 15 days to fix every single squiggle on

          6  those 14 boxes worth of maps. And if they don't fix

          7  the squiggle, and someone falls, the City is liable.

          8                 Now, that makes absolutely no sense.

          9  And these squiggles don't tell you about the

         10  seriousness of the defect. It doesn't say how deep

         11  the hole is, how wide the hole is, doesn't say

         12  whether it's dangerous or not, has every single

         13  trivial crack.

         14                 Look at this. Here is the sidewalk.

         15  If you can't see this it's in your book. Every one

         16  of those little pock marks appears on this map. And

         17  because the plaintiff testified I fell on that

         18  little crack there that's circled over there, the

         19  City is liable. That's not a big hole, and that

         20  costs New York City taxpayers $60 million. What do

         21  we propose? Give us real notice. How deep is it? How

         22  wide is it? Sign your name to the notice so you're

         23  liable criminally if you submit a fraudulent notice.

         24  And in that way Commissioner Weinshall can decide

         25  how serious is the defect.
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          2                 Now, let me turn very briefly to the

          3  other bills that are before the Council today, which

          4  I think collectively could be categorized as the

          5  tree, proposed tree legislation. And the problem

          6  with all of this legislation is that it shifts still

          7  one more cost to the City, and I suggest to you this

          8  is not the time that we should be finding still more

          9  ways to impose a cost on the City, and particularly

         10  here where there's not a need for it.

         11                 There's over 500,000 trees in New

         12  York City. Most of those trees are on the two-thirds

         13  property, the 700,000 pieces of property, who's

         14  liability is not affected by Intro. 193.

         15                 Commissioner Benepe tells me that the

         16  City gets requests to plant trees more than it can

         17  even satisfy. Now, what's the practice today? If a

         18  sidewalk cracks because of a tree route, the owner

         19  calls the Department of Parks, opens up the

         20  sidewalk, the Department of Parks comes in and fixes

         21  the roof. Sometimes it slices it, sometimes it can

         22  do something less dramatic. And that work is

         23  performed at, the tree repair is performed at no

         24  cost to the owner.

         25                 Why does the City have to do it, not
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          2  the owner? Because these are highly vulnerable trees

          3  that requires a great deal of expertise. If the

          4  owner is forced to fix the sidewalk because he

          5  doesn't like the way it looks, he can consider

          6  making a claim against the City, that's the practice

          7  now. And, again, if someone tripped because of a

          8  sidewalk hazard caused by a tree, since most of the

          9  trees are on the one-, two-, and three-family homes

         10  there's going to be no liability consequence. And if

         11  there's a tree in front of commercial property, I

         12  suggest to you that it's in all of our interests for

         13  that owner to fix the sidewalk and if he thinks he

         14  has a claim against the City, let's do it. Let them

         15  do it.

         16                 Nothing will change if you pass 193

         17  with respect to the trees. But if you pass this

         18  legislation as proposed, today if sidewalks are

         19  cracked and there's a capital construction project,

         20  the City takes a look, says well those sidewalks are

         21  cracked anyway, you charge the owner back for that

         22  amount, the City pays the rest.

         23                 Under the proposed legislation, the

         24  City is going to get more costs. Today the City has

         25  to repair that tree. If you let anybody repair the
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          2  tree, it will not help the trees. If the owner, as

          3  one of the bills propose, then sends the bill to the

          4  City, how do we guard against fraud? How do we guard

          5  against inflated costs?

          6                 It's simply, the legislation is

          7  simply unnecessary because the Department of Parks,

          8  which will add inspectors if it needs to so it can

          9  go out and fix those trees right away, there's no

         10  need for this legislation to pass.

         11                 So, in conclusion, before I answer

         12  any questions you may have, let me summarize our

         13  approach.

         14                 Intro. 193 would save the City on a

         15  continuing basis 40 million or so dollars a year.

         16  Intro. 192 would give the City real notice, not the

         17  inadequate meaningless notice contained in 5,000

         18  maps in those boxes. And the legislation in the tree

         19  area is unnecessary.

         20                 I thank the Committee for listening

         21  to me. I'll be happy to answer any questions.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you for your

         23  testimony this morning, and I think that we will

         24  have a fair number of questions.

         25                 Before we start with the questioning,
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          2  I would just like to announce that we are joined

          3  this morning by Council Member Simcha Felder from

          4  Brooklyn, Council Member Helen Sears from Queens,

          5  Council Member James Oddo from Staten Island,

          6  Council Member Eric Gioia from Queens, Council

          7  Member Domenic Recchia from Brooklyn, Council Member

          8  Mike McMahon from Staten Island, and to my right we

          9  have Council Member Lou Fidler from Brooklyn,

         10  Council Member Oliver Koppell from the Bronx, and

         11  Council Member Tony Avella from Queens.

         12                 Once again, thank you for your

         13  testimony. I know that many of my colleagues here

         14  have questions for you, Mr. Cardozo. I would just

         15  like to start off by asking you if the

         16  Administration feels that it shouldn't be

         17  responsible for the 30 percent of these sidewalks

         18  that are in front of commercial and multiple

         19  dwelling properties?

         20                 MR. CARDOZO: We don't believe we

         21  should be responsible for the liability that flows

         22  from that 30 percent, that is correct.

         23                 We think it's not practical because

         24  of the huge numbers of sidewalks we have. We believe

         25  that the landlords in those buildings are already
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          2  insured or could be insured if they're not. It's a

          3  modest additional cost, and it will save the City

          4  $40 million.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And would the City

          6  remain responsible for keeping those sidewalks in

          7  good repair?

          8                 MR. CARDOZO: No. Right now it is the

          9  landlord that is responsible for keeping all the

         10  sidewalks in good repair, be they the large owner or

         11  the small owner. And we're not suggesting any change

         12  in that. What we're suggesting is let's put some

         13  teeth in the responsibility that the landlord has to

         14  fix the sidewalk by saying if you don't fix the

         15  sidewalk and there's an accident, you're liable.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And in the case of

         17  the one-, two-, and three-family owners, even though

         18  currently those owners aren't responsible for the

         19  repair, the City would continue to assume

         20  obligation?

         21                 MR. CARDOZO: That is correct. That is

         22  correct.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And in your example

         24  of the $500,000 pay-out, is that typical?

         25                 MR. CARDOZO: Well, the average
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          2  pay-out is $20,000. So, this was an example. We had

          3  a case this year that resulted in a $21 million

          4  pay-out. But those are obviously not the typical

          5  case. The typical case settles out for around

          6  $20,000.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Would that be for

          8  the 12,000 cases?

          9                 MR. CARDOZO: Yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I mean, I'm trying

         11  to make sense of the numbers there.

         12                 MR. CARDOZO: There's roughly 2,600

         13  cases disposed of a year, and, so, at a $20,000

         14  average, that totals the $60 million.

         15                 We have 12,000, because we have

         16  three, four or five years worth of cases pending,

         17  and that totals 12,000 pending cases of which we

         18  dispose of about 2,600 a year.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.

         20                 Now we have questions from Council

         21  Member Koppell.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you.

         23                 Who owns the sidewalks that we're

         24  talking about?

         25                 MR. CARDOZO: The City.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: The City is

          3  the owner.

          4                 And as you indicated, the property

          5  owner is required to keep the sidewalks in good

          6  repair, correct?

          7                 MR. CARDOZO: Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And if the

          9  property owner does not keep the sidewalk in good

         10  repair, can the City come in and fix the sidewalk

         11  and assess the property owner the cost?

         12                 MR. CARDOZO: The City has to under

         13  the administrative code assess the owner with a

         14  violation. So, if you assume, as the trial lawyers

         15  do, that most of the sidewalks in this City are

         16  defective, that's 673 million square feet of

         17  sidewalk.

         18                 So, yes, if the City could find

         19  enough inspectors to inspect the sidewalks that

         20  would go half way around the globe, serve violations

         21  on those owners, wait 45 days for those violations

         22  to be cured, the City could find the money, could

         23  then fix all of those sidewalks, which under our

         24  estimate would be a little less than $3 billion. The

         25  City could then send a bill to all those owners, and
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          2  if those owners didn't pay that $3 billion, the City

          3  could place a lien on the property.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: But it would

          5  also be possible for the City to use some

          6  discretion, wouldn't it? They wouldn't have to

          7  repair every sidewalk, they could inspect and go

          8  after the most serious violations, correct?

          9                 MR. CARDOZO: Well, it could exercise

         10  that discretion, Councilman. But if someone falls on

         11  a less severe crack, the City would still be liable.

         12  And we're not suggesting, even under our proposal,

         13  that if there's a very serious crack the City won't

         14  fix it.

         15                 In fact, you may recall we had a

         16  chart up that we would spend about $3 million a

         17  year, assuming this legislation passed, to fix the

         18  really serious defects, but right now we have no

         19  idea, based upon the notice we received, what's

         20  serious and what isn't.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: It is true,

         22  is it not, that if it is a negligible defect, the

         23  City or anybody else is not necessarily liable, that

         24  the courts require it to be a material defect; isn't

         25  that true? You don't need to just show a defect, it
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          2  has to be material, doesn't it?

          3                 MR. CARDOZO: That's up to the jury to

          4  decide whether any defect in the sidewalk is greater

          5  than a quarter of an inch to cause the hazard, and I

          6  suggest to you that if you have a very appealing

          7  plaintiff, and what appears to be a well healed New

          8  York City defendant, and we have to try 2,600 cases

          9  of this nature, that's what's been happening, the

         10  City is found liable.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I contest

         12  your -- I don't agree with your assessment of the

         13  state of the law that if it's more than a quarter of

         14  an inch that the jury has full discretion, but we

         15  won't get into a debate on that, just for my

         16  colleagues benefit I have some knowledge of this

         17  area and I don't think that's a correct statement of

         18  the law --

         19                 MR. CARDOZO: It may be slightly

         20  longer than that, Councilman -- larger than that,

         21  but it's not just a giant gaping hole. As you could

         22  see from here, none of those defects look to me to

         23  be"serious" and someone tripped and fell and

         24  collected.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, I can't
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          2  tell from that picture.

          3                 Be that as it may, with respect to

          4  the bill that I have proposed, you are correct, and

          5  it has never made sense to me, that a property owner

          6  is responsible for fixing the sidewalk, but not

          7  responsible if they don't fix it properly or they

          8  don't fix it at all, that doesn't make sense to me,

          9  which is why I put in my bill.

         10                 My bill would say that the property

         11  owner is primarily responsible, and that the City is

         12  secondarily responsible. Now, your response to that

         13  is that the City would be in the case and would put

         14  up money in settlement. But what's the basis of

         15  that? If the property owner is responsible, and the

         16  property owner is insured so that the City's

         17  secondary liability would not attach because there

         18  would be money there, why would the City put up any

         19  money in settlement as you suggested?

         20                 MR. CARDOZO: Well, I think there's

         21  two approaches. Even before you get to the

         22  settlement, there is the fact that 44 lawyers and

         23  roughly equal amount of support staff and the

         24  Comptroller's Office would still be heavily involved

         25  in these cases at a time that I would suggest that

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            32

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  these people have more significant and more

          3  important things to do.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Can I

          5  interrupt you for a second?

          6                 Some of those 44 lawyers under your

          7  bill would still be involved --

          8                 MR. CARDOZO: That's correct. I'm

          9  talking about roughly two-thirds, yes. Because

         10  two-third of the cases relate to one-third --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So, a third

         12  of those lawyers will still be involved in any

         13  event?

         14                 MR. CARDOZO: That is correct. But if

         15  you could give me two-thirds more of those lawyers

         16  to handle the 9 or 10 billion dollars worth of World

         17  Trade Center cases, I think we would all have our

         18  money better spent.

         19                 So, before you get to settlement, we

         20  would have significant back-office costs, if you

         21  will, still involved.

         22                 Now, for those of us who are lawyers,

         23  we know that you go and you end up before a judge

         24  who will try to settle the case, and as a practical

         25  matter we have to settle most of these cases. And,
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          2  so, the defendant will say, hey, Judge, it really

          3  was the City's fault, for whatever reason they want

          4  to make up, and the City is going to have the

          5  pressure put on them to settle.

          6                 My lawyers will do the very best they

          7  can, Councilman, not to settle those cases if your

          8  bill passed. There's no question about that. I don't

          9  want to overstate the case.

         10                 The secondary liability is obviously

         11  better than the situation we have today, but I'm

         12  appealing to your practical sense. These are $20,000

         13  cases on average. The one thing we don't need in

         14  this City is still more litigation, and under your

         15  bill, and all due respect, you're going to have

         16  cross claims, you're going to have indemnity claims,

         17  you're going to have still more litigation and I

         18  don't think that's a very practical way to proceed.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: One last

         20  question. An ordinary person is walking down the

         21  sidewalk and there is a serious defect, and that

         22  person trips and that person is very seriously

         23  injured, take that as a predicate, and the adjacent

         24  property owner happens to be bankrupt, and the City

         25  owns the sidewalk; how do you justify to that person
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          2  you can't recover, bankrupt and not insured I assume

          3  --

          4                 MR. CARDOZO: Right.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And that is

          6  what would be the case under your bill?

          7                 MR. CARDOZO: That is correct,

          8  Councilman. And I think it's no different,

          9  unfortunately, than the situation where people are

         10  injured in various accidents and it turns out that

         11  someone is not insured.

         12                 Of course it can happen. If the City

         13  wants to it could ensure every action of any actor

         14  in the City if there's no insurance.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Mr. Cardozo,

         16  the City owns the sidewalk, right? And the defect is

         17  on the City-owned sidewalk, and therefore the City

         18  will hold no responsibility?

         19                 MR. CARDOZO: Councilman, the owner of

         20  the property benefits. There's no doubt there will

         21  be a big hue and cry if the City decided to pull up

         22  every sidewalk and people couldn't walk into their

         23  house, yes, as a matter of common law the City owns

         24  the sidewalk, I'm not going to deny that fact. The

         25  question is how, in a City with 12,000 plus miles of
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          2  sidewalk, how can we ensure that those sidewalks are

          3  best prepared and the responsibility for doing that

          4  spread out? And I suggest to you it's the way we

          5  suggested.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: But for

          7  anybody who has money right now, they would both be

          8  responsible for repairing the sidewalk and for

          9  paying damages, if their repair is even negligent or

         10  not done, right?

         11                 MR. CARDOZO: Under your proposed

         12  bill, yes.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Okay, thank

         14  you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you,

         16  Councilman.

         17                 Questions from Council Member Fidler.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Good morning,

         19  Mr. Cardozo.

         20                 I'm a lawyer, I'm going to apologize

         21  for that.

         22                 MR. CARDOZO: I don't apologize for

         23  that. I think we should all be proud of being

         24  lawyers.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I identify
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          2  first as a New Yorker, as a tree lover, and as a

          3  taxpayer before I identify as a lawyer.

          4                 First, and I know that my colleagues,

          5  you've obviously pulled most of the lawyers on the

          6  Council here today, so there must be something

          7  compelling about it. First, I want to point out this

          8  lovely photo you took that says "what notice?", just

          9  as a good plaintiff or defense lawyer can shade an

         10  argument, this I am sure is not the best picture of

         11  this defect, and something tells me that before

         12  someone paid a half a million dollars on this claim,

         13  that someone presented a better picture of it, and

         14  if they didn't then the lawyer who was handling this

         15  case --

         16                 MR. CARDOZO: This case was tried.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: So then a jury

         18  obviously saw a defect. Obviously, when you're

         19  talking about a serious defect, Mr. Cardozo, the

         20  serious defect to the person who trips in it, can be

         21  a quarter inch or a foot, but if they tripped in it,

         22  it's a serious defect.

         23                 MR. CARDOZO: We're agreed on that. In

         24  fact, I think that's the core of the problem. It

         25  could be a very, very small defect and result,
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          2  unfortunately, in a very, very serious injury. I

          3  don't dispute that at all. And the question,

          4  therefore, is, since Councilman Koppell said, what

          5  if it's a real serious defect? Even the small defect

          6  can cause a big injury, and that's where we want to

          7  say someone else should do the fixing.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Well, let's

          9  get through some of the numbers that you threw out.

         10                 Based upon the statistics that are in

         11  your book, the cost of fixing all of these sidewalks

         12  in front of the one-, two-, and three-family home,

         13  if I'm pro-rating it correctly, would be about $1.9

         14  billion; is that correct?

         15                 MR. CARDOZO: I'm not going to argue

         16  --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Well, that

         18  would be about 70 percent of 2.7 billion.

         19                 MR. CARDOZO: You may well be right.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Well, how are

         21  we going to deal with that problem? We don't have $2

         22  billion.

         23                 MR. CARDOZO: No, but let's not

         24  forget, the two-thirds of the accidents occur on the

         25  rest of the property, and that's not surprising
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          2  because you have to ask where is the people traffic.

          3                 Sure there can be an accident in

          4  front of a one-, two-, or three-family home, I'm not

          5  going to deny that, but it's much more likely, and

          6  the statistics show that most of these accidents are

          7  occurring in the heavily traveled streets, and if

          8  this bill passes, we can at least be spending the

          9  modest budget we have, we can be spending it to

         10  focus on the sidewalks in front of the one-, two-,

         11  and three-family homes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: But we still

         13  haven't, we don't have any way of addressing a $1.9

         14  billion sidewalk repair problem, so I mean we're

         15  still begging 70 percent of the question.

         16                 MR. CARDOZO: I don't think we're

         17  begging it. I think what we're doing is making a

         18  major in-road, because two thirds of the cases the

         19  City will not be liable for and presumably the

         20  landlord will be fixing the property, so we will

         21  have more money, not enough, more money to spend on

         22  the properties and there's less likelihood of the

         23  accidents occurring there.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I think one of

         25  the predicates of your argument is that the various
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          2  property owners are insured. And certainly to the

          3  extent that the average pay-out is $20,000, I think

          4  it's fair to assume that you're counting on each

          5  property owner to be insured for at least $20,000.

          6                 Now, the cases of people who are more

          7  seriously injured, and I'm sure that $21 million

          8  pay-out you referred to was a verdict, because I

          9  seriously doubt the Appellate Division would sustain

         10  a $21 million pay-out, and if not, I strongly urge

         11  that you appeal that verdict.

         12                 MR. CARDOZO: It's on appeal.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Gee, I'm

         14  shocked.

         15                 The predicate is that people are

         16  insured. Now, you know, when you're talking to

         17  someone who is most seriously injured, if the City

         18  is not going to be at all responsible, even in the

         19  case of a commercial property owner, someone trips

         20  in front of a commercial property, the insurance

         21  maxes out, their injury truly does justify a verdict

         22  in excess of the insurance, I mean what are you

         23  saying to that injured person?

         24                 I mean, I guess they become the owner

         25  of the property, right? Because that's where they're
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          2  going to go.

          3                 MR. CARDOZO: What I'm simply saying

          4  is we've got to find a way to fix New York City

          5  sidewalks which doesn't exist today. The incentive

          6  to fix those sidewalks will be dramatically

          7  increased and it will save our money.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: So, in other

          9  words you're saying tough luck.

         10                 MR. CARDOZO: No, I'm not saying tough

         11  luck.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Not my

         13  problem.

         14                 MR. CARDOZO: I'm simply saying that

         15  the landlord, owner of the building benefits by

         16  having the sidewalk. We all recognize that's why the

         17  administrative code -- remember, the administrative

         18  code today says it's the obligation of the landlord

         19  to fix the sidewalk. That has been in effect for

         20  years. All we're trying to do is put teeth into a

         21  law that you enacted.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I think we all

         23  benefit from having the sidewalk, not just the

         24  abutting property owner.

         25                 I'm just going to go to other places,
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          2  I know there are a lot of questions for you.

          3                 Regarding Councilman Koppell's bill,

          4  and truthfully, I hadn't even seen it before this

          5  morning, obviously you are predicating your policy

          6  here based on the fact that there is insurance, and

          7  if the City is going to be secondarily liable, and,

          8  obviously, the vast number of these cases must be

          9  less than $20,000, since we're averaging the $20,000

         10  pay-out --

         11                 MR. CARDOZO: Well, an equal number

         12  would be offered.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: -- Against

         14  million dollar payments, that the vast number of

         15  these cases would not require the active

         16  participation of your staff. If it was clear that

         17  the City is secondarily liable, you wouldn't need to

         18  be at a settlement conference where you knew that a

         19  bonafide insurance company, even when that was in

         20  liquidation with the Liquidation Bureau would be

         21  involved, that was insuring a property for a half a

         22  million dollars, that you would need to participate

         23  because the City was at risk on a claim that had a

         24  value of $20,000; why would you need to be there?

         25  Why would you need to extend time and resources?
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          2                 I mean, we all allocate in a law

          3  practice our resources towards things that make

          4  sense, it seems clear and somehow I am sure that it

          5  would become the policy of your office not to

          6  actively participate. Let the judge call you if he

          7  thinks that we reached the point where the insurance

          8  is going to max out and City, you need to kick five

          9  grand in to settle this stubbed toe case.

         10                 MR. CARDOZO: Councilman, if New York

         11  City is sued in a case, it is my responsibility to

         12  defend the City. I will obviously, if the likelihood

         13  of the City being found liable is relatively small,

         14  I'm going to expend less resources. I am obligated,

         15  and I think I will be subject to criticism if I

         16  simply ignored the case, and I don't think you're

         17  suggesting that.

         18                 I have an obligation to put in an

         19  answer, I have an obligation to respond to discovery

         20  demands. Remember, my office is handling 47,000 tort

         21  cases, we have got to find a way to cut down and to

         22  put our resources into more important cases.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Well, I'm

         24  submitting to you that if Councilman Koppell's bill

         25  passed, you would do just that, to allocate your
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          2  resources in such a way that you were minimally

          3  involved in cases where the City's exposure was

          4  minimal, just as an excess carrier is minimally

          5  involved in a case where their exposure is not

          6  likely to come in.

          7                 I am one of the prime sponsors of the

          8  tree bill, so I want to go there for just one

          9  second.

         10                 What did you pay out on the Abner

         11  Louima case?

         12                 MR. CARDOZO: I'm sorry?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: What did you

         14  pay out on the Abner Louima case? Was it about $7

         15  million?

         16                 MR. CARDOZO: $7.1 million.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Would you

         18  argue that in any shape, way, manner or form that

         19  the egregious conduct, the tortious conduct of a New

         20  York City police officer is -- I mean, you wouldn't

         21  come to us and ask us to pay a bill saying that, you

         22  know, Abner Louima should not have had the right to

         23  bring this action against the City of New York?

         24                 MR. CARDOZO: It's federal law that if

         25  you violate someone's constitutional rights that the
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          2  municipality is going to pay.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Let's forget

          4  the constitutional, federal issue for a second.

          5                 Would you ask this Council to exempt

          6  the City of New York from liability under such a

          7  circumstance?

          8                 MR. CARDOZO: Councilman, if the City

          9  does something wrong, the City should pay to

         10  compensate the victim, the person who is injured by

         11  the City's wrong-doing.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Thank you.

         13  Because I understand that we're talking about

         14  radically and grossly different things. I would

         15  never ever compare the damage that was done to the

         16  sidewalk in front of my home by your tree to the

         17  conduct that Abner Louima was exposed to.

         18                 But you are asking this Council to

         19  exempt the City from liability for a defect in their

         20  sidewalk caused by their tree, which may or may not

         21  have been planted in front of my home with my

         22  consent by your City, by our City.

         23                 Now, I love the trees and I want them

         24  to continue to be planted, okay, but there's a

         25  certain logical injustice when it is your sidewalk,
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          2  your tree, your doing, and therefore the proximate

          3  cause of someone else's injury, that you're asking

          4  us for a pass, give you a pass that you're not

          5  responsible.

          6                 If you're responsible, if the City is

          7  responsible, if a City agency or employee is

          8  responsible, then a plaintiff ought to be able to

          9  sue the responsible party, and that's the point of

         10  the tree bill.

         11                 I recognize the incredibly bad

         12  economic situation that this City is in, and it's

         13  unfortunate timing, but there is an inequity and an

         14  injustice that is being done not on the level of a

         15  Louima, but if you do something you ought to be

         16  responsible for it, Mr. Cardozo.

         17                 MR. CARDOZO: All right, let me give

         18  you the legal answer to what you said, and I have a

         19  feeling since I've been joined here by Commissioner

         20  Benepe, that perhaps he could respond on behalf of

         21  the Parks Department.

         22                 I think we have to separate whether

         23  we're talking about responsibility for fixing the

         24  sidewalk or liability.

         25                 With respect to the responsibility
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          2  for fixing the sidewalk, if the sidewalk cracks, if

          3  you will, because of a tree, the owner of the

          4  property can consider making a claim against the

          5  City. That's true today and it would be true if our

          6  bills pass tomorrow.

          7                 The practice, and the practice that

          8  we urge, is that the owner call the Department of

          9  Parks and they will fix the tree.

         10                 So that I don't think you need the

         11  legislation to deal with that situation.

         12                 If you're talking about someone

         13  falling on the sidewalk as a result of the tree roof

         14  cracking the sidewalk, remember that most of the

         15  trees are in front of one-, two-, and three-family

         16  homes for which our bill will have no affect at all.

         17                 So, if someone trips on a sidewalk

         18  because of a tree root, he or she can sue the City

         19  if it's been in front of a one-, two-, or

         20  three-family home.

         21                 If the crack is because it's in front

         22  of a piece of commercial property, yes, then the

         23  owner is liable. And that's what we want, because we

         24  want to incentivize that owner to fix the sidewalk

         25  before the accident happens.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            47

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 I think the Commissioner perhaps

          3  would like to deal with some of the practicalities

          4  that your question posed.

          5                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Councilman

          6  Fidler is a known friend of Parks, and friend of

          7  historic houses, museums and trees.

          8                 I guess the personal possessive

          9  pronoun that I have a problem with, you keep saying

         10  "your trees," we'd like to think that they're our

         11  trees, the trees on your block and all your

         12  colleagues' blocks are providing oxygen, are

         13  providing shade, are providing beauty, and, finally,

         14  the expression of "tree-lined streets," is normally

         15  used by real estate people to convey a sense of

         16  value in the neighborhood. So, while you're pointing

         17  your finger at our trees, meaning you, the City,

         18  let's remember that they are our trees and they are

         19  planted, largely speaking in response to requests

         20  from your constituents who come to us and say

         21  please, and they go to the community board and say

         22  please plant this tree in front of my property.

         23  Please fill this empty tree pit. We do not plant new

         24  trees in new tree pits unless we have specific

         25  written requests from the property owner. So, it is
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          2  our sense the trees are considered a desirable

          3  commodity, and not trees being living things will do

          4  things. Their roots will grow and they'll spread

          5  onto the sidewalk and they'll uplift the sidewalk,

          6  in that case when the property owner is ready to

          7  repair the sidewalk, they'll let us know and our

          8  arborists will come and will shave the roots down

          9  and it's a very technical skill that requires

         10  knowledge of the different types of trees and how

         11  they root and how the roots spread and whether if

         12  removing a certain root will unbalance the tree and

         13  cause it to become a more dangerous liability.

         14                 So, we are ready to assist all the

         15  home-owners at any point when they need to have

         16  their -- even if it means having to have more people

         17  out there inspecting and shaving roots.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Somewhere in

         19  there I guess is an answer to my question.

         20                 Commissioner Benepe, I call you my

         21  friend, Commissioner Benepe, by using the pejorative

         22  "your tree," I mean truthfully growing up I

         23  considered the tree in front of the house I lived in

         24  to be my tree. When a car hit it and ripped the bark

         25  off of it, I was offended because they hit my tree.
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          2  And it's certainly our tree and our tax money.

          3                 Now, I would ask you this, I've

          4  heard, and I'm not sure if Corporation Counsel was

          5  parsing his words carefully. If my constituent calls

          6  Parks and says I'm having a problem with my sidewalk

          7  because the tree roots are pushing the flags up, if

          8  you would come in and deal with the tree, would you

          9  also deal with the sidewalk?

         10                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: No, we don't. We

         11  just deal with the tree.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: So, your tree,

         13  understanding how I mean it, is pushing up the flag

         14  on your sidewalk, and you'll fix the tree but not

         15  the sidewalk.

         16                 I see, you know, and I don't expect

         17  you to agree with me, but I see a logical

         18  inconsistency in that position. If I don't call you

         19  you're not going to fix the root; if I do call you,

         20  I have to fix your sidewalk. It's kind of the same

         21  conundrum that was being discussed with Councilman

         22  Koppell that if I don't fix it, I'm not responsible;

         23  if I start to fix it and I don't do it right, I am

         24  responsible. If I call you, I am now stuck with the

         25  bill for fixing your sidewalk as a result of the
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          2  damage caused by your tree root.

          3                 And I'm quite sure, as well,

          4  Commissioner, that if I publicized to my

          5  constituents in the next newsletter, forget my whole

          6  district, just in Marine Park, that the Parks

          7  Department is ready, willing and available to come

          8  in and take care of all your tree roots, that you

          9  would spend the entire maintenance budget of the

         10  Parks Department in Marine Park fixing tree roots.

         11                 I doubt you're economically equipped

         12  to handle that burden if the public really knew

         13  about it.

         14                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: We have that

         15  burden anyway. When somebody wants a tree root

         16  shaved, we have to do it.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Only if

         18  everyone knows that.

         19                 Truthfully, I'm learning this today.

         20                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: I get back to

         21  the our, I think the value of the tree is shared,

         22  and we understand that.

         23                 There is much more demand to plant

         24  trees than to remove them. So, we're all on the same

         25  page here. We all love trees and we know that, yes,
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          2  if you wanted to remove all liability and have a lot

          3  of perfect sidewalks, you could cut down all the

          4  trees and everybody would be happy. But there

          5  wouldn't be any oxygen in the City.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I'm going to

          7  let it go in deference to my colleagues, but

          8  obviously we don't agree about this.

          9                 Thank you, both of you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you,

         11  Councilman.

         12                 Questions from Council Member Oddo.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you, Mr.

         14  Chairman.

         15                 Mr. Cardozo, one, two, three, four,

         16  five, six - seven City Council members who are

         17  attorneys sitting in the Committee Room -- sounds

         18  like the start of a really bad joke.

         19                 MR. CARDOZO: Imagine if we were all

         20  on the jury together.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I'm obviously

         22  intrigued by your testimony with respect to Intros.

         23  192 and 193, I'm interested to see what the other

         24  side has to say because basically, if I understand

         25  your testimony correctly, it seems that you have a
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          2  much better chance in the City of New York to become

          3  rich by a trip and fall litigation than Lotto, and

          4  I'm interested to hear what the other side has to

          5  say.

          6                 You ended the portion of your

          7  testimony with respect to those two bills by saying

          8  that, if you receive this relief, if the City

          9  received this relief, you would essentially be able

         10  to move more resources from the commercial sites to

         11  the residential sites.

         12                 But then when you went on to the

         13  second portion of your testimony, you testified in

         14  opposition to bills that we've crafted to in fact do

         15  that, to provide some relief in the residential

         16  areas. You said that the legislation in the tree

         17  area is unnecessary - I would tell you that I can

         18  march in seniors from up and down Staten Island who

         19  would tell you that's incorrect.

         20                 And I think Council Member Fidler did

         21  a good job of explaining the difference between the

         22  two sets of bills, in essence with respect to the

         23  tree bills, the problem was created by the City of

         24  New York, and with all due respect to Commissioner

         25  Benepe, I've been informed over the years from Parks
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          2  Department people that for years and years and years

          3  the City in the City of New York the wrong type of

          4  trees were planted on residential streets. London

          5  Planes, Silver Maples, that historically and

          6  traditionally were known for few things, toppling

          7  over in bad weather, and having very aggressive

          8  roots.

          9                 You should walk up and down

         10  residential neighborhoods in Staten Island and you

         11  will see trees that are 25 and 50 years old buckling

         12  every inch of that sidewalk, and this has been the

         13  bane of my existence for a long time, because trying

         14  to get your hands on the process is very difficult.

         15  I think Council Member Fidler got a portion of it

         16  with his questioning. If the tree buckles a portion

         17  of the sidewalk, and it's solely as a result of the

         18  tree root, the Parks Department will come down and

         19  they will offer to do some tree root pruning, if

         20  it's possible. The home-owner is still responsible

         21  for paying for the new sidewalk in that area.

         22                 If you reach out to DOT, DOT will say

         23  to you, you are not responsible for that sidewalk

         24  that is damaged solely by the tree root, but you

         25  will be responsible for any other problems in that

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            54

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  sidewalk.

          3                 They will not come in and repair that

          4  for you unless there are in fact other portions of

          5  the sidewalk that are damaged. Here's my problem.

          6  The average Staten Islander, certainly the average

          7  senior citizen, doesn't know about the liability and

          8  the lack of liability. They fear that if they leave

          9  that sidewalk as is, they will be held responsible.

         10  So, what you have time and time again for the last

         11  decade that I've been involved in this, you have

         12  senior citizens out of fear that they are going to

         13  be sued, that have a sidewalk that is buckled solely

         14  by a tree root, but a City's tree root, ours, mine,

         15  yours, a City's tree root, that they have to go out

         16  and they feel compelled to go out and fix it.

         17                 Some do it because aesthetically the

         18  house is pristine and they don't like the looks of

         19  it, some do it out of fear or liability.

         20                 You have seniors and folks on a fixed

         21  budget who now pay thousands of dollars, not once,

         22  not twice, I can march in here people who have paid

         23  three times.

         24                 If you want us to give you some

         25  relief on the front end, Intros 192 and 193, I'm
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          2  really shocked and disappointed to hear that you're

          3  not willing to give our constituents some relief on

          4  the back end.

          5                 I think the two positions are a

          6  little bit inconsistent. The process is not

          7  understood by my constituents, it has taken me a

          8  couple of inches on my hair line to figure it out

          9  after a decade, and the bottom line is --

         10                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Imagine what's

         11  happened to me.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: The bottom line

         13  is you have, in all of our districts, I speak Staten

         14  Island and Brooklyn, you have folks who are waiting

         15  for DOT to get there, DOT is not going to get there,

         16  and they feel compelled to go out and fix it on

         17  their own out of fear of a liability.

         18                 So, my rant will end in 30 seconds. I

         19  will say to you that if you want my support on the

         20  first two bills, and I think you make a compelling

         21  case, as I said, you have to. You have to offer my

         22  constituents some relief on the back end.

         23                 MR. CARDOZO: If I could just comment

         24  briefly. It's my understanding that if the

         25  Department of Transportation repairs a sidewalk, and
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          2  that the repair is caused -- that one of the things

          3  that they're repairing is a buckled sidewalk flag

          4  caused by a root, the Department of Transportation

          5  does not charge the home-owner for the cost of that

          6  repair.

          7                 I go back, and I think that's a fact

          8  that Commissioner Weinshall could confirm if there's

          9  a question about that.

         10                 So, we go back to the question of if

         11  the tree is there, and I think we probably all agree

         12  the trees benefit the neighborhood, and increase the

         13  value of the property, if the property and the

         14  home-owner has the obligation, has had the

         15  obligation to keep the sidewalk in good repair, I

         16  think what you're suggesting is that even though he

         17  had that responsibility to fix it, and if DOT comes

         18  in and fixes it they won't charge them, that if the

         19  sidewalk buckles and the home-owner says, hey, it

         20  was caused by "your" tree, to use someone's pronoun,

         21  that the City should pay for that willy-nilly, I

         22  just don't think it's a realistic cost in this day

         23  and age to say that the City has to impose on that,

         24  especially, as Commissioner Benepe said, the Parks

         25  Department will work with you.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Mr. Chairman,

          3  just one last point.

          4                 Here's out it works in the real

          5  world, though, Mr. Cardozo: DOT is not going to come

          6  down and fix that stretch of sidewalk if the only

          7  portion of that sidewalk is broken by a tree.

          8                 They are not going to spend their

          9  time or their resources on that.

         10                 So, you will have constituents, that

         11  unless the rest of the sidewalk is broken, will wait

         12  and wait and wait for DOT to come and address that

         13  issue, and they can't, they won't, they'll only come

         14  to those areas where it's buckled here, it's buckled

         15  here, and it's buckled by the City's tree, because

         16  that's how they recoup their resources.

         17                 The reality is you will have folks

         18  who will call City agencies, will wait and wait and

         19  wait for relief, the relief is not coming, and then

         20  they sit and they say, well, I saw Mrs. Jones almost

         21  take a header Tuesday, I'll have to go out and I

         22  have to fix the sidewalk, and they incur the costs

         23  and they do it time and time again.

         24                 Again, if we're going to offer the

         25  City some relief on the front end, there has to be a
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          2  way, whether it's this legislation or something

          3  that's more tailored to offer our constituents some

          4  relief on the back end.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you,

          6  Councilman.

          7                 I just wanted to announce that we

          8  have been joined by Council Members Melinda Katz,

          9  from Queens, and Council Member Eva Moskowitz from

         10  Manhattan. And I'll also note that several of my

         11  colleagues here will have to shuttle back and forth

         12  between hearings, which is why you'll see people

         13  disappear and then reappear again.

         14                 Questions from Council Member Sears.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you, Mr.

         16  Chairman.

         17                 My questions are going to be very

         18  brief. I think I've heard a lot from our colleagues.

         19  One of the questions I have, and I have three and

         20  just a brief comment; where do most of the sidewalk

         21  claims occur?

         22                 MR. CARDOZO: Most of the sidewalk

         23  claims occur in front of the commercial and large

         24  properties. So, while those properties only occupy

         25  roughly one-third of the City, about two-thirds of
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          2  the claims relate to them because it's pretty

          3  obvious, that's where most of the people traffic is.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: And you may

          5  have said this earlier, although I haven't heard it,

          6  what will Intro. 193 actually accomplish? What is

          7  the object?

          8                 MR. CARDOZO: The object is to save

          9  the City 40 million, roughly $40 million in hard

         10  costs and another $5 million or $6 million in back

         11  office cost, because it will say that instead of the

         12  City having to pay for any accident that results on

         13  those commercial properties, the home-owner will,

         14  the landlord will, it's usually not a home-owner.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Why don't you

         16  just require landlords to repair their sidewalks on

         17  an ongoing basis?

         18                 MR. CARDOZO: Well, that's been in the

         19  law. The trouble is that there's no consequence if

         20  the landlord does not fix the sidewalk because

         21  there's no civil liability.

         22                 Ultimately the landlord can get a

         23  violation. Ultimately if he does not take steps to

         24  fix the violations, the City could some day get

         25  around with 12,000 of sidewalk to fixing that
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          2  sidewalk. The City could send a bill, and the City,

          3  if the bill is not paid, could put a lien on the

          4  property. It's simply not a practical way to

          5  proceed.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay.

          7                 Another question. When the City does

          8  repair the sidewalk and they send out a bill, does

          9  DOT, and I know this might be for Commissioner

         10  Weinshall, what is their collection process? Do they

         11  have something in place that pursues the collection

         12  of these bills? There are many that are outstanding,

         13  so what is the process to shrink that little gap?

         14  Big gap, actually.

         15                 MR. CARDOZO: It is a huge gap. It's

         16  simply not practical. And all the law says is if the

         17  bill is not paid, it becomes a lien on the property,

         18  and that means that if the property is ever sold,

         19  you would have to clean up the lien, which could be

         20  ten, 20, 30 years from now, if ever.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Exactly. So,

         22  it's not practical when there's a bill to say $44

         23  million and having some pursuit of those outstanding

         24  bills that would shrink our deficit?

         25                 MR. CARDOZO: You're talking 2,600
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          2  cases a year.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I understand

          4  that. I do. I understand.

          5                 MR. CARDOZO: So, it seems to us that

          6  the way to do that is not to wait 20 years to

          7  collect part of that bill.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I agree with

          9  that.

         10                 MR. CARDOZO: But rather to put some

         11  teeth into the existing obligation that the

         12  land-owner has and says you better fix the sidewalk

         13  because if you don't and someone trips you're going

         14  to be liable.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I understand

         16  that. Maybe perhaps the City as a whole, since we

         17  have so many outstanding fees that are not paid, so

         18  many outstanding fines that are not paid, so many

         19  bills that are submitted and not paid, that is a

         20  huge amount of money, and at a time when we're asked

         21  to deal with budget constraints, it would seem that

         22  any effort that could be made to bring in a very

         23  large amount of dollars would be worth looking at.

         24                 MR. CARDOZO: I agree with that.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay.
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          2                 And just a comment on the tree bit,

          3  which affects Commissioner Benepe, right now

          4  coordinating two City agencies for an individual to

          5  do is the most cumbersome thing in the world,

          6  because you have to open, arrange to have the tree

          7  pit opened by a private contractor, at the same time

          8  you have to arrange for the Parks Department and

          9  coordinate when the pit is open and when they repair

         10  the roots. That doesn't happen simultaneously, and

         11  the individual who is arranging for that has to wait

         12  for the Parks Department with a large open pit with

         13  that sidewalk that needs to be repaired, and there

         14  is the coordination takes a very long time.

         15                 Is there anything that's being looked

         16  at to address speeding up the coordination; since

         17  it's not always done through community boards?

         18                 As a matter of fact, the community

         19  boards take longer to do it.

         20                 MR. CARDOZO: Well, I think one of the

         21  many benefits of having hearings like this and these

         22  kinds of discussions and the work that we've been

         23  doing in preparation for this hearing, is that

         24  Commissioner Weinshall, Commissioner Benepe and I

         25  had a number of discussions and I know they have
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          2  pledged to try to do a better job in that area.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: All right,

          4  that's promising. Thank you.

          5                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and please

          6  excuse me.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much,

          8  Council Member Sears.

          9                 Questions from Council Member Avella.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Thank you, Mr.

         11  Chairman.

         12                 A couple of questions as it relates

         13  to two of the bills that we've been talking about.

         14                 First of all, the tree bill. I've

         15  been in government a good number of years, prior to

         16  my being elected to public office, I'm a former

         17  member of my own community board, civic president,

         18  and I'm actually amazed to hear this process when it

         19  comes to replacing the sidewalk when it's been

         20  damaged by tree roots.

         21                 I don't think anybody in my district

         22  knows that DOT will repair the sidewalk, or that you

         23  could submit a claim to the Comptroller's Office

         24  when the damage is done because of the tree root.

         25                 Are you saying that if I go back to
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          2  my district today, and the very next tree root

          3  complaint I get about the sidewalks, I can ask DOT

          4  to come out and repair that sidewalk?

          5                 MR. CARDOZO: You certainly can ask.

          6  DOT obviously has, as we all know, a lot of

          7  obligations.

          8                 What I said was, when DOT does fix

          9  the sidewalk, and we had the practical problem that

         10  we all recognize that we have a huge number of

         11  sidewalks, when DOT does fix that sidewalk, and I'm

         12  not going to say they're going to do it tomorrow

         13  because we recognize that's not practical, when they

         14  fix that sidewalk that has been damaged because of a

         15  tree root, they will not charge back your

         16  constituent.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: I have to tell

         18  you, though, without speaking to the present

         19  administration, my experience has been if you call

         20  DOT, they would never admit to that responsibility.

         21  Never.

         22                 Now, this may be under the new

         23  administration, but to my knowledge, DOT has never

         24  admitted to that responsibility.

         25                 MR. CARDOZO: I think if examination
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          2  of the practice would reflect, that when DOT does

          3  fix the sidewalk, and part of the sidewalk has been

          4  caused by a tree root, that that part of the cost

          5  would not be charged back to the home-owner.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: I'm going to

          7  take you at your word.

          8                 The second bill, the bill that I've

          9  introduced, which many of the members of the

         10  Committee that are here today signed onto, is 242,

         11  which would exempt one-, two-, and three-family

         12  home-owners from repairing sidewalks as part of a

         13  capital construction plan. The response, the

         14  memorandum in opposition just sort of basically says

         15  that given a fiscal crisis that the City of New York

         16  is in, and that DOT spends an average of 12.4

         17  million per year on sidewalk repair, this is not the

         18  time to propose such a bill.

         19                 What would be the exact -- I don't

         20  think that 12.4 million actually reflects a number

         21  that we would be talking about. I mean, how many

         22  capital projects would actually be affected? There's

         23  got to be an estimate that we could take.

         24                 And my second part of that question

         25  is, how much money does the administration spend in
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          2  following up with one-, two-, and three-family

          3  home-owners, sending out the inspector, following up

          4  with a bill?

          5                 Because I can tell you in my district

          6  when this has happened, I spend a lot of my time,

          7  both prior to being elected and after being elected,

          8  writing DOT with letters where the home-owner has

          9  questioned the need to redo the sidewalk under a

         10  capital reconstruction, question the quality of the

         11  work that the City did and is now billing the

         12  home-owner for, and my point to you is, if we

         13  actually analyze the amount of money it takes to do

         14  the administration, I think it would significantly

         15  offset some of the additional cost.

         16                 MR. CARDOZO: Well, let me suggest to

         17  you, as I read your proposed bill, if there's a

         18  capital construction project say on a particular

         19  block, and one part of that capital construction

         20  project related to a defect caused by a tree, your

         21  bill would have exempted -- and there were other

         22  defects that existed unrelated to the tree, that

         23  your bill would have exempted the home-owner

         24  completely from having to pay for any part of that

         25  cost as distinct from exempting only that part of
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          2  the cost attributable to the tree.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: No, I'll be

          4  perfectly honest, my bill would exempt them

          5  completely.

          6                 I mean, I come from the premise that

          7  I think it's inherently unfair for a property owner

          8  to maintain something he or she doesn't own.

          9                 MR. CARDOZO: Oh. You're really then

         10  taking issue with the underlying concept already in

         11  existence in the administrative code, that imposes

         12  that obligation on the home-owner.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: No question, I

         14  am.

         15                 MR. CARDOZO: And my response to that

         16  simply is you really then are suggesting that the

         17  City should bear the cost, which we estimated about

         18  $3 billion, a little less than $3 billion, to fix

         19  all the sidewalks, and I just don't think that's a

         20  realistic approach to this.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: I'm not saying

         22  we do it immediately, but at some point any large

         23  municipality should bear the responsibility for

         24  providing sidewalks in their own city. And I think

         25  it's inherently unfair for somebody to be
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          2  responsible, in terms of liability and financial

          3  cost, for something they don't own. I'm not a

          4  lawyer, but it just seems common sense to me.

          5                 I don't know how we got to that

          6  point. We are at that point, but I think long range

          7  I think it would be incumbent upon any municipality

          8  to change that policy.

          9                 MR. CARDOZO: I just want to remind

         10  you that under our bill, two-thirds of the

         11  properties there would still not be liability, we're

         12  not talking about repair.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: I don't think

         14  I got an answer to my question about the cost.

         15                 MR. CARDOZO: How much the cost is?

         16  We'll get back to you on it.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you,

         19  Councilman.

         20                 We've been joined by Council Members

         21  Andrew Lanza from Staten Island, and Council Member

         22  Miguel Martinez from Manhattan, and we now have

         23  questions from Council Member Recchia.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Good morning.

         25                 We've been sitting here now for an
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          2  hour and 35 minutes, never once did I hear you talk

          3  about the injured person. Never once did I hear the

          4  Bloomberg Administration wants to protect the

          5  injured person.

          6                 So, I'm going to start off with this

          7  chart where you said the City paid $500,000; could

          8  you tell me what the injuries were on that case?

          9                 MR. CARDOZO: If you give me a moment

         10  I will.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Okay.

         12                 Do you have the Bill of Particulars

         13  of that case with you?

         14                 MR. CARDOZO: I have a summary of the

         15  injury. If I recall, she broke her hip. I'm just

         16  reading this to you because someone told that to me.

         17  The plaintiff broke her hip. She told the EMS and

         18  the responding police officer that she had gotten

         19  dizzy and fell. She had a history of diabetes and

         20  hypertension.

         21                 In her testimony she said that her

         22  foot got caught in a hole, she could not remember

         23  which foot or what the hole looked like, and the Big

         24  Apple map showed a cracked and uneven sidewalk. She

         25  had a fractured left hip requiring substantial
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          2  surgery.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Okay. And how

          4  old was she?

          5                 MR. CARDOZO: Seventy-six.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Seventy-six.

          7                 So, in the Bronx, a $500,000, that

          8  was a jury verdict?

          9                 MR. CARDOZO: Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Okay.

         11                 Prior to the case going to trial, you

         12  had an opportunity to settle this case, correct?

         13                 MR. CARDOZO: That's correct.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: What was the

         15  demand from the plaintiffs?

         16                 MR. CARDOZO: That I don't have before

         17  you.

         18                 I would say actually that the

         19  verdict, as I understand it, the verdict was

         20  actually higher and we then settled the case on

         21  appeal for $500,000.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Okay. The

         23  verdict was higher than 500, we don't know how much

         24  it was, correct?

         25                 MR. CARDOZO: I can get back to you,
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          2  but I don't know.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Okay.

          4                 So, a fractured hip with surgery, did

          5  you have to put hardware in there?

          6                 MR. CARDOZO: I think so.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Okay. In the

          8  Bronx, okay? You don't know how much you offered?

          9  How much did you offer to settle this case?

         10                 MR. CARDOZO: I can get back to you. I

         11  don't know that off the top of my head.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: You don't

         13  know. Okay. And we don't know what the demand of the

         14  plaintiff's attorney placed? He demanded a private

         15  trial?

         16                 MR. CARDOZO: As I sit here today

         17  unfortunately I don't have that information.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: So, I would

         19  be correct in saying that you had an opportunity to

         20  settle this case, you chose not to.

         21                 MR. CARDOZO: I'm sure that's correct.

         22  We chose not to at whatever number the plaintiff was

         23  willing to settle for.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Well, we

         25  don't know what that number is, since we're not
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          2  given all the facts.

          3                 So, what I'm saying here is, you come

          4  in with this map, you show a defect, and the City

          5  paid $500,000. What you don't tell my colleagues is

          6  the injury of the plaintiff, never once did you say

          7  it was a fractured hip requiring surgery, and I'm

          8  going to tell you right now, if you do prior

          9  searches, you're going to see many verdicts show

         10  that fractured hips go for much more than $500,000.

         11  So, when I come here, I see this map, I see the

         12  defect, we don't talk about the injury. We don't

         13  talk about that she was a senior citizen. We don't

         14  talk about how she was injured severely. We don't

         15  know what the permanent injury is.

         16                 MR. CARDOZO: Councilman --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: No, no, no.

         18  I'm just trying to get my point across. I have no

         19  problem with you presenting this to us, but tell us

         20  all the facts. Tell us the facts, that it was a

         21  fractured hip requiring surgery, which many times up

         22  in the Bronx, the verdicts go for much more than

         23  $500,000.

         24                 So, the point I'm trying to get

         25  across is here you come before us, you want us to
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          2  help you. And we're here to talk about it and see

          3  how we can help each other. But what I'm not hearing

          4  is, let's throw everything on the table. Let's all

          5  be up front. But when I get this presentation it

          6  hurts me.

          7                 All right, go ahead.

          8                 MR. CARDOZO: I made clear at the

          9  beginning of my remarks that we were not depriving

         10  anyone of his or her right to sue. We were

         11  transferring, in the case of the large property

         12  owner, we were transferring liability to that

         13  property owner.

         14                 I do not want to sound callous.

         15  People, elderly people and not elderly people, trip

         16  on our sidewalk, that's not good for anybody. It's

         17  not good for the plaintiff, it's not good for the

         18  family, it's not good for the City.

         19                 So, the question I think we

         20  collectively have to look at is (a) how do we

         21  prevent that accident from happening in the first

         22  place? That's obviously the best solution, correct?

         23                 And (b) if there is an accident, who

         24  should pay the consequence. What I'm suggesting in

         25  step one is for the one-third of the properties,
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          2  which are large, let's make the owner liable and the

          3  consequence of that will be to put an incentive to

          4  the owner to fix the sidewalk so the crack wouldn't

          5  be there and so there would not be liability, and if

          6  he doesn't do that, then you're not depriving the

          7  plaintiff, who may have been severely injured, and I

          8  didn't suggest otherwise, a $500,000 verdict,

          9  obviously the person was significantly injured; the

         10  question is who should pay the consequence of not

         11  having discharged the responsibility that the law

         12  already imposes on him. And what I'm suggesting to

         13  the Committee is that for the large property owner,

         14  let's put the consequence and make the owner pay for

         15  the civil liability.

         16                 I am not suggesting that I am at all

         17  callous to the plaintiffs. I am trying, as I said at

         18  the beginning of my testimony, to both save the City

         19  money and to improve the quality of life of people

         20  in this City, and I'm suggesting to you that if we

         21  put teeth in the responsibility that already exists,

         22  we're going to do both.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Okay. Now

         24  let's move to the map, okay?

         25                 The defect -- let me get closer. The
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          2  map shows this is where the defect, right? Circled

          3  in red.

          4                 MR. CARDOZO: Yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Okay. And we

          6  look on here. Now, when they give this map, it comes

          7  with a whole chart attached to it?

          8                 MR. CARDOZO: Of what the --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Right.

         10                 MR. CARDOZO: Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: And over

         12  here, if we look what the squiggly line means, it's

         13  extended section of cracked sidewalk, correct?

         14                 MR. CARDOZO: Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Okay. So, the

         16  plaintiff, okay?

         17                 MR. CARDOZO: Yes.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Was walking

         19  and tripped and fell, and you're saying that this

         20  notice is not sufficient to the City for prior

         21  written notice; is that correct?

         22                 MR. CARDOZO: Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Why wasn't it

         24  sufficient?

         25                 MR. CARDOZO: Okay, I want to read
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          2  you, I just want to find it, what the witness, not

          3  in that case, but in another case, said.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: I thought we

          5  were dealing with this case?

          6                 MR. CARDOZO: No, no, no.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Am I missing

          8  something?

          9                 MR. CARDOZO: What the witnesses have

         10  said, the people who have prepared the maps have

         11  testified to, is that you cannot tell from those

         12  squiggles the depth, the length, the width, the

         13  severity, because they're all just a bunch of lines.

         14  They do not make any distinction between what is

         15  serious and what is not.

         16                 And, so, the problems that we have,

         17  Councilman, is we get these 14 boxes of maps, each

         18  one of which looks like before you, depending upon

         19  the sidewalk, and there is no way to tell other than

         20  we better fix the whole thing.

         21                 Let me read you what the person who

         22  testified about these maps said.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Who's

         24  testimony was that?

         25                 MR. CARDOZO: This is the testimony by
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          2  someone who prepared the maps in Forman against the

          3  City, Supreme Court, Kings County. I can give you

          4  the index number later.

          5                 Question: "You serve millions of

          6  defects on the City of New York?"

          7                 "Yes."

          8                 Question:"And you can't tell the

          9  height of the defect from that map, can you?"

         10                 "No."

         11                 Question: "And you can't tell the

         12  length of the defect from that map, can you?"

         13                 "No."

         14                 Question: "You can't tell the shape

         15  of that defect from the map?"

         16                 "No."

         17                 Question: "You don't highlight what's

         18  dangerous and what isn't?"

         19                 "That's correct."

         20                 Question: "The slightest imperfection

         21  can be listed on the map; isn't that correct?"

         22                 Answer: "Yes."

         23                 Councilman, there are 14 different

         24  categories that are listed on these maps, you cannot

         25  tell anything from them. They range from raised or
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          2  uneven portion of sidewalks, cracked sidewalks,

          3  extended section of cracks, broken misaligned curb,

          4  et cetera.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Okay.

          6                 This person obviously fell in this

          7  crack right here, correct?

          8                 MR. CARDOZO: That's what this person

          9  testified to at trial, yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: All right.

         11  So, if this crack didn't go horizontal, but it went

         12  vertical, okay, and she testified that she fell on a

         13  crack that went vertical, there would be no prior

         14  written notice; correct? According to this map.

         15                 MR. CARDOZO: If she had testified,

         16  and remember, her testimony --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: No, no. A

         18  very simple question.

         19                 If there was a vertical line going

         20  across right over here and not a horizontal line,

         21  okay? And she testified that she fell on the line

         22  that was horizontal that wasn't vertical, there

         23  wouldn't be prior written notice, correct?

         24                 MR. CARDOZO: If that's what the map

         25  had said before she testified, and she testified
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          2  that she didn't fall on that crack, yes. Whether

          3  when she looked at that map and saw what the map

          4  said she would have had her recollection refreshed

          5  and testified that she fell another way, I don't

          6  know.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: So, you're

          8  telling me, okay, that she concocted her testimony

          9  --

         10                 MR. CARDOZO: I didn't say that.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Well, that's

         12  what you were insinuating, you were insinuating that

         13  first you looked at the map, okay? And then she

         14  decided what crack she fell on.

         15                 MR. CARDOZO: I didn't say that.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Let's move

         17  on.

         18                 Wait. In order to pursue a law case,

         19  right? What's the first process, that the lawyer has

         20  to file a notice of claim, correct?

         21                 MR. CARDOZO: That's right.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: And, now,

         23  you're requesting that a letter be submitted for

         24  every defect, correct?

         25                 MR. CARDOZO: Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Okay. And in

          3  that letter, you want it to be more specific; is

          4  that correct?

          5                 MR. CARDOZO: Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: And in that

          7  letter you want the person to sign it, so you could

          8  prosecute them criminally if that's not correct?

          9                 MR. CARDOZO: Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:

         11  Sergeant-At-Arms, I want to give the Corporation

         12  Counsel, Mr. Cardozo, a copy of a notice of claim.

         13                 I show to you what's a notice of

         14  claim, okay? Now, in this notice of claim, okay,

         15  don't they have to put down the time, the place, the

         16  manner in which the claim arose?

         17                 MR. CARDOZO: In the notice of claim,

         18  yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Don't they

         20  have to put the nature of the claim, how it

         21  happened?

         22                 MR. CARDOZO: Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: And don't

         24  they have to put the location of the injury?

         25                 MR. CARDOZO: Yes, but that's
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          2  different than the map.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: No, wait,

          4  wait. I'm going to come back to the map.

          5                 MR. CARDOZO: Notice of claim has to

          6  say that, yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Okay. And on

          8  the second page of the notice of claim, doesn't

          9  notice of claim have to be verified?

         10                 MR. CARDOZO: Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: So I don't

         12  understand when you say that there's the map that

         13  shows that there's a defect, when you get the notice

         14  of claim, you know all about the person's case, and

         15  if you want to prosecute them criminally if you

         16  think there's fraud being committed, they signed

         17  this and it was verified and it was notarized.

         18                 MR. CARDOZO: Can I answer the

         19  question now?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Sure.

         21                 MR. CARDOZO: I think we're mixing up

         22  the notice of claim with the notice to the City

         23  which has to predate this by at least two weeks.

         24                 What we're complaining about is that

         25  at the moment these maps don't put the City on
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          2  notice of what the defect is to go fix it, and what

          3  we're suggesting, if you look at what I had just put

          4  up, is rather than the maps the way we have it here,

          5  is that we put, we have a real notice, what's

          6  broken, what's raised and all of that. You could

          7  have that on line, and so that the person, we're not

          8  talking about the accident, we're talking about the

          9  notice so that the City can go fix the defect, and

         10  what we're saying that at the moment, the whole

         11  theory of the notice law is to put the City on

         12  notice of what has to be fixed, because the City

         13  can't be responsible unless it has notice.

         14                 So, let's give us real notice. Let's

         15  not be able to have someone testify that these

         16  things are meaningless. Let's give us real notice so

         17  Commissioner Weinshall can make a determination of

         18  what really should be fixed.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Okay. Let's

         20  go, according to your chart over here, okay? Let's

         21  say somebody fills this out, okay? And they fill it

         22  out, let's say on the 21st, and then on the 23rd

         23  there's a rain storm, and that defect now got

         24  larger, and seven days later or 20 days later, 50

         25  days later, somebody else trips and now the hole,
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          2  the crack got larger; what are you going to do? You

          3  say we didn't have defect because this notice only

          4  says two feet, now the hole is four feet?

          5                 MR. CARDOZO: Councilman, we're trying

          6  --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: I know. I'm

          8  just giving you an example here on why this can't

          9  work, because you're going to say it's not proper

         10  notice, we didn't have notice of that defect, the

         11  notice is two feet, your client testified to four

         12  feet, therefore there's no case.

         13                 MR. CARDOZO: Councilman, I think --

         14  let's take a step back.

         15                 The predicate of the law that the

         16  City Council passed in 1979 is that the City should

         17  have an opportunity to go out and fix things before

         18  it's going to be held liable, that's what the

         19  Council said.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Correct.

         21                 MR. CARDOZO: Unfortunately what the

         22  courts have found the adequate notice to be is

         23  simply a line on a map which doesn't make a

         24  distinction between seriousness, and what has

         25  resulted is, for example, that 1,000 or 2,000 maps

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            84

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  relating to a particular borough, are given to

          3  Commissioner Weinshall on a particular day, and if

          4  she doesn't fix those cracks in two weeks and

          5  someone falls on the crack the City is liable. And

          6  what we're saying, and what we're suggesting is,

          7  this is not a game, we're talking people's injuries,

          8  and we're talking the City's fix.

          9                 What we're saying is if we're

         10  supposed to fix the cracks, as we will still have to

         11  do for two-thirds of the properties in this City,

         12  tell us what's really broken so we can go fix it.

         13                 And, so, fill out something like

         14  this, so that Commissioner Weinshall, with limited

         15  funds that we all agree upon, will be able to take a

         16  look at these maps and say, gee, that looks serious,

         17  I better go fix it. When she looks at these maps

         18  today, in those 14 boxes, you can't tell anything.

         19  And I think we all would like to make the sidewalks

         20  safer, that's what our proposal is aimed at.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: In this map,

         22  obviously the whole sidewalk is cracked, okay? So,

         23  if the whole sidewalk wasn't cracked, I could show

         24  you maps where there's only one or two markings on

         25  it.
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          2                 MR. CARDOZO: Well, Councilman --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Okay, that's

          4  another issue.

          5                 MR. CARDOZO: Councilman, it's not

          6  obvious that the sidewalk is cracked all around.

          7  What is obvious is that this map says the sidewalk

          8  is cracked all around.

          9                 It doesn't make the map accurate. But

         10  what it does do is theoretically put the City on

         11  notice no matter how wide the defect, or deep the

         12  defect, and that's what those maps say, simply that

         13  there's a squiggle on it.

         14                 What we're suggesting is, give us

         15  real notice.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Isn't it true

         17  that the Court of Appeals upheld that these maps are

         18  sufficient to meet the law?

         19                 MR. CARDOZO: The Court of Appeals

         20  said that they were sufficient to meet the law. The

         21  Court of Appeals did not say it was sufficient to

         22  allow the Transportation Commissioner to decide how

         23  to allocate her limited resources to fix the real

         24  defects.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Let me ask
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          2  you something. When the notices of claim, when they

          3  come into the office, and they come to a specific

          4  location, do you have specific, like, if they come

          5  for let's say on Madison Avenue, and a certain

          6  location, if you keep on getting a number of those

          7  locations, are you -- when you say you get like four

          8  or five notice of claims, are you addressing that

          9  issue?

         10                 MR. CARDOZO: That is a very good

         11  question. I would like to address myself to that.

         12                 What we have done is what you're

         13  really suggesting, and I think it's a great point,

         14  is risk management. Let's figure out that if there's

         15  six accidents on Madison Avenue and 53rd Street or

         16  Queens Boulevard and 92nd Avenue, if there's six

         17  accidents within a short period of time, we

         18  shouldn't be waiting three or four years til we make

         19  a settlement in those cases to fix it.

         20                 And what we have done is we have

         21  formed a tort prevention unit dealing with

         22  Department of Transportation and some other agencies

         23  in which we're looking at accident reports, notices

         24  of claims, calls to DOT, various other indicia of

         25  problems, we have a person who is assigned in the
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          2  Corporation Counsel's Office who oversees that, we

          3  have a person in the Department of Transportation

          4  office who is taking a look so we could do just

          5  that, and if we had meaningful maps, Councilman,

          6  meaningful maps, so we could say let's get all the

          7  accident reports -- all the damage reports on

          8  Madison Avenue and 52nd Street, to add that to the

          9  mix, we could definitely take some constructive

         10  steps. It's a great point and we are doing just

         11  that.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Okay, I just

         13  want to tell you one thing.

         14                 You said earlier, you testified about

         15  the average sidewalk case costs the City $20,000; is

         16  that correct?

         17                 MR. CARDOZO: That's what OMB and the

         18  Comptroller tell me, yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: All right.

         20                 According to the Daily News' survey,

         21  they say it's only $10,000, okay? So, I mean --

         22                 MR. CARDOZO: I would rely on

         23  Comptroller Thompson and OMB, in all due respect to

         24  the Daily News, before I rely on the Daily News.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Well, we're
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          2  going to ask Comptroller Thompson when the

          3  Comptroller's Office comes to testify.

          4                 I just want to just say, that --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Pardon me for

          6  interrupting, Mr. Chair, can I --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: I'm not

          8  finished.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: I know. I want

         10  to help you.

         11                 It's the Comptroller's report, annual

         12  claims report of Fiscal Year 2000 at page 10, says

         13  that the average pay-out is $7,110. It's the average

         14  claim. You're talking about after it goes to trial,

         15  I think what we're talking about is settling it

         16  beforehand. I mean, that's why it drops, that's the

         17  Daily News' number and how it drops it.

         18                 MR. CARDOZO: Well, that may be. I

         19  think the relevant test, and, of course, we should

         20  all focus, if there's an accident we should focus on

         21  disposing these cases as quickly as possible,

         22  because it's less expensive.

         23                 But it seems to me that the relevant

         24  statistic ultimately is, what does New York City, be

         25  it pre or post complaint stage, what does New York
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          2  City pay as a result of the existing law.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Okay. And I

          4  just want to also make a note, can't people do a

          5  FOIL request for information about the defect?

          6                 MR. CARDOZO: A FOIL request?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: To the DOT.

          8                 MR. CARDOZO: Sure.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: For prior

         10  written notice. So, the map is not only the prior

         11  written notice.

         12                 MR. CARDOZO: I'm not sure I follow

         13  where you're going.

         14                 We have accident reports, we have

         15  police reports, we have FOIL notices, we have

         16  notices of claim, we have complaints, all of those

         17  indicia, and, frankly, under the state of the law

         18  today, all of that information is far more relevant

         19  and reliable than these maps which don't give us the

         20  necessary information.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: But isn't it

         22  true that the plaintiff still has to prove their

         23  case?

         24                 MR. CARDOZO: Of course.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Okay.
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          2                 MR. CARDOZO: They have to prove prior

          3  written notice.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Right.

          5                 MR. CARDOZO: And under the law as it

          6  stands now, if there's a squiggle, that part of

          7  their cause of action is satisfied.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: And that the

          9  City didn't fix the defect on a reasonable period of

         10  time.

         11                 MR. CARDOZO: Because we don't have $3

         12  billion to fix all the defects.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you,

         14  Councilman. We have questions --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: One more

         16  statement.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: One last statement.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: On the

         19  commercial issue, the adjacent land owner, I think

         20  we have to figure out a way, is that if someone

         21  trips and falls and the building has no insurance,

         22  then there has to be a solution, maybe an area

         23  should be a form like M VIAC (phonetic) in

         24  automobile cases, where there's a limit in how much

         25  you can recover. Something has to be worked out
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          2  there on that issue.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you,

          4  Councilman.

          5                 We have questions from Council Member

          6  McMahon.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thank you,

          8  Mr. Chairman. And good morning still, Mr. Cardozo.

          9                 MR. CARDOZO: Good morning.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: I want to

         11  commend you really on putting forth a very

         12  interesting case on behalf of the City this morning.

         13  You brought the boxes and the props and you brought

         14  two of the City's finest commissioners on your

         15  behalf, and I think that's a good thing. And I also

         16  think when we talk about the goals that you

         17  enunciate here before us, like looking at who should

         18  pay on these cases and getting, making sure that our

         19  sidewalks are repaired and that our trees are

         20  maintained and taken care of, I think those are also

         21  very laudable goals. And you also talk about

         22  accident prevention, and that's also a very laudable

         23  goal.

         24                 My concern is that the boxes and the

         25  posters and all the fine witnesses and the laudable

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            92

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  goals that I talked about so far are really just a

          3  smoke screen for another goal that the Mayor is

          4  pursuing and that is limiting access to justice on

          5  behalf of injured parties. And let me explain why I

          6  say that.

          7                 The notice of claim that you propose

          8  to the Council will never come into existence in

          9  terms of being available to people who are injured,

         10  that type of claim will be very rarely filled out,

         11  it won't exist. And by making that type of notice of

         12  claim a condition pursuant to a lawsuit is basically

         13  barring many, many injured parties from access to

         14  justice.

         15                 That type of notice of claim will not

         16  be filled out, and I think you know it quite well.

         17  The type of claim that exists now which is evolved

         18  from the law of 1980 is I think adequate enough to

         19  let the City know that in a certain area there is a

         20  defect that exists.

         21                 Now you told us that because these

         22  maps are so vague and indecipherable, that they

         23  really don't give the Department of Transportation

         24  the adequate notice that they need to fill out

         25  potholes, but isn't it correct really that the Court
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          2  of Appeals in the State of New York and the

          3  Appellate Division Court, have held those maps to a

          4  pretty high standard? In other words, if you say

          5  that there's a crack on the sidewalk in a very

          6  specific area, and it's really not a crack but it's

          7  a broken curb, or some other defect that you cannot

          8  pursue your case, and in addition the courts have

          9  taken a pretty strict line on what is a material

         10  defect. Even if a jury finds that a quarter inch or

         11  a half inch defect is material, a court will review

         12  that.

         13                 So, Appellate Courts are really the

         14  ones who oversee the runaway juries that you've

         15  talked about this morning, and it's in my opinion

         16  nothing more, and everything we've talked about here

         17  today, and all these goals, and the shifting of

         18  liability, is nothing more than an advocacy on

         19  behalf of Intro. 192, which is nothing more than

         20  barring access to the courts on behalf of people,

         21  remembering also, because you're talking about

         22  specificity being important to do repairs and to

         23  make sure that these defects no longer exist and

         24  that the Commissioner of Transportation knows where

         25  the defect is.
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